IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC03-134 Lower Tribunal No.: 2DO1-5308

ALLISON GAE REEVES, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF DENNIS MITCHELL REEVES, DECEASED, Petitioner,

vs.

FLEETWOOD HOMES OF FLORIDA, INC., MARVIN MILLER, AND MICKIE OLIVER, Respondents.

On Discretionary Jurisdiction from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Second District

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ALLISON GAE REEVES, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF DENNIS MITCHELL REEVES, DECEASED

Submitted by: Robin Gibson, FBN 028594 Kevin A. Ashley, FBN 056138 GIBSON, VALENTI & ASHLEY 212 E. Stuart Avenue Lake Wales, FL 33853 863/676-8584 (o) 863/676-0548 (fax) Co-Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, respondent FLEETWOOD HOMES OF FLORIDA, INC. is referred to as "FLEETWOOD;" respondent MARVIN MILLER is referred to as "MILLER;" and respondent MICKIE OLIVER is referred to as "OLIVER."

DENNIS MITCHELL REEVES, deceased, is referred to individually as "REEVES."

All references to the four volumes of petitioner's appendix are indicated by "Appendix {tab number}" and followed by the applicable page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

As argued below, pursuant to *Hastings v. Demming*, 694 So. 2d 718, 720 (Fla. 1997), the district court lacked jurisdiction to review this nonfinal order denying summary judgment. On that basis, the Court should vacate the district court's opinion without considering the two certified questions. In the event the Court considers the second certified question, the following material facts were those before the trial court when it correctly entered its order.

The Incident

The day of the accident was the first day Dennis Reeves had worked at this particular workstation in the Fleetwood plant. (App. 2, p. 121, lines 17-19). As Miller drove his forklift toward Reeves immediately before the accident, the forklift load consisted of three, 12-feet wide rolls of metal roofing material weighing over 1500 pounds each. (App. 7, pp. 13, 47; App. 2, p. 107, lines 9-15). The load had to be raised 14 feet in the air because the aisle way at pedestrian level was too narrow for the 12-feet wide rolls to pass. (App. 2, p. 103, lines 14-20). The rolls were not strapped or secured onto the forklift in any way. (App. 7, pp. 13, 47; App. 2, p. 107, lines 9-15).

This was the first load of metal roofing transported that morning.¹ (App. 2, p. 97, lines 13-16). According to Miller, these roofing materials with the forks

elevated left only a four-to-six inch clearance between the rolls and a stationary pole across from Reeves' assigned workstation. (App. 2, p. 119, lines 24-25; p. 120, line 1). Miller was driving the forklift with the load positioned in front of him. (App. 6, p. 38, line 25; p. 39, lines 1-3; App. 8, p. 47). Because of the size and elevation of the load, Miller was unable to watch the critical clearance of the overhead load as he approached the stationary pole. The pole extended to the ceiling and Miller knew it was directly across the aisle way from Reeves. (App. 7, pp. 42-44; 46-47; App. 2, p. 120, lines 7-14).

Miller realized that his raised load was in danger of hitting the pole unless he was able to ease the forklift by the pole in a particular way. (App. 2, pp. 118-120). Within the previous year, Miller himself had struck the same pole with a load of roof rafters,¹ leaving a mark on the pole. (App. 2, p. 115, lines 16-25; p. 116, lines 1-5). Miller also knew that other forklift drivers had hit the pole.² (App. 2, p. 114, lines 15-25; p. 115, lines 1-15; p. 132, lines 20-25; p. 133, line 1). Although he was unaware of how many times the pole had been hit, Miller was aware that the pole had been painted at least once, covering up the previous strike marks. (App. 2, p. 3, p. 3, p. 4, p. 4,

Miller estimated that the roof rafters were actually *narrower* than the metal roofing rolls. (App. 2, page 125, lines 3-8).

Miller described "marks" at two different heights on the pole, indicating multiple collisions. (App. 2, p. 115, lines 3-15).

133, lines 1-8).

When Miller previously struck the pole with a load, he reported it to his foreman, respondent Oliver, but no changes in forklift procedures (e.g., a different path or moving the workstation where Reeves was working) or additional safety requirements (i.e., securing the loads with straps or harnesses) had resulted. (App. 3, Vol. II, p. 19, lines 18-25; p. 20, lines 1-10).³ Neither Miller nor Oliver filed an accident report. (App. 2, p. 116, lines 6-7).

Forklift drivers could avoid hitting the overhead pole by driving with the forklift's left tire positioned on top of a yellow line painted on the warehouse floor. (App. 2, p. 119, lines 7-19). As Miller approached the "putty table" workstation where Reeves had been assigned, he was watching the yellow line to his left. (App. 2, p. 118, lines 11-21). Miller believes he sounded the forklift's horn and looked up in Reeves' direction -- also to Miller's left.⁴ (App. 2, p. 121, lines 5-12). The pole was on Miller's right side. (App. 7, pp. 42-43).

Miller did not recognize Reeves and knew Reeves was new to the "putty table." (App. 2, p. 121, lines 3-4; 13-19). Although Miller may have sounded the

In his deposition, Miller subsequently admits that he lacks specific recollection of the events associated with this specific trip with the forklift. (App. 2, p. 148, lines 18-25; p. 149, lines 1-10).

The two volumes of Oliver's deposition in Appendix 3 are separately paginated.

forklift's horn as he approached, Miller confirms he never made eye contact with Reeves and never saw Reeves look up from his work. (App. 2, p. 121, lines 8-12). When Reeves did not acknowledge Miller's presence, instead of getting off the forklift or yelling to Reeves to move out of the way, Miller pressed ahead with the forklift load. (App. 2, p. 121, lines 5-7). As a result, Reeves was positioned between the oncoming forklift and the stationary objects around the workstation. (App. 8, p. 10).

Because it was so common for other Fleetwood employees to walk under forklift loads and to ignore an approaching forklift's horn (App. 2, p. 92, lines 8-9), Miller had been instructed to continue driving forward, even if employees did not move.

I was told that the people have been fair warned and if they continue to ignore you with a load over their head, to not stop your job, you can't just stop your job, go and do your job and then they will be talked to about it.

(App. 2, p. 123, lines 1-5; App. 3, Vol. I, p. 27, lines 10-22).

Although Reeves had never worked at the putty table before that day, neither Miller nor Oliver spoke to Reeves and told him about the danger of the forklift loads passing overhead. (App. 2, p. 121, lines 1-24; App. 3, p. 22, lines 9-25; p. 23, lines 1-4). No safety or warning signs were posted at the work station alerting (App. 3, Vol. I., p. 57, lines 5-12). Reeves died from multiple injuries when Miller struck the pole with the load and the end of a falling roll hit Reeves directly in the center of his chest like a huge projectile. (App. 7, pp. 48-53).

Reeves of the dangers of forklifts and overhead loads coming through the area.

Safety at the Fleetwood Plant

At the time of the incident, Fleetwood's plant employed 131 people. (App. 7, p. 12).⁵ The plant had no safety director and no one was assigned responsibility for monitoring compliance with the rules and regulations of the Occupational Safety and Health Act ("OSHA"). (App. 5, p. 17, lines 9-20; p. 18, lines 9-12).

As a forklift operator, Miller's safety training at Fleetwood consisted of watching videotapes (generally App. 2, pp. 49-51) and reviewing and signing a list of written safety rules when he was first hired. (App. 3, Vol. I, p. 20, lines 11-24). Miller did not receive a copy of the signed rules. (App. 3, Vol. I, p. 20, line 25; p. 21, line 1). After initial training, Fleetwood employees were never again required to review the videotapes or safety rules. (App. 6, p. 20, lines 12-18).

The forklift operator's manual also included instructions for safe forklift operation (App. 8, pp. 8-9), but Fleetwood did not require its operators to read the manual. (App. 3, Vol. I, p. 49, lines 4-15). Likewise, the OSHA regulations on

Page references to Appendix 7 correspond to the circled numbers appearing at the bottom of the pages, although some pages appear in the document out of order.

"transporting objects or materials by forklift" (App. 8, pp. 9-10) were unknown at the plant, as no one was assigned responsibility for being knowledgeable of those regulations. (App. 5, p. 17, lines 9-20).

Plaintiff's expert safety witness opined that Miller and the other forklift drivers were instructed and expected by Fleetwood to violate the safety rules, forklift procedures and OSHA regulations. (App. 8, p. 14). On this specific occasion, in violation of these safe practices and procedures, Miller: (1) had not secured the three-roll load to the forklift to prevent movement; (2) was operating the forklift with the load at a high elevation; (3) was not driving the forklift in reverse to overcome his obstructed view; (4) had failed to ensure that Reeves was not under the elevated load; (5) had failed to center the load on the forklift forks; (6) had failed to ensure that the load was stable and safely arranged; (7) had continued to run the forklift forward even though Reeves was in harm's way, the result of which was to trap Reeves between the forklift and stationary objects; (8) had transported the load without the forklift forks being spread to their widest position; and (9) was watching the yellow stripe on the warehouse floor, instead of observing the forklift's path of travel. (App. 8, pp. 10-15).

OSHA Inspector's Findings and Citations

An OSHA inspector reviewed the plant and Fleetwood's operation

immediately following the incident. (App. 7). The OSHA inspector found that the pole had been struck "on numerous occasions," of which foreman Oliver was aware. (App. 7, p. 55).⁶ OSHA fined Fleetwood \$7,000 for multiple violations, including Miller's failure to load the forklift in a stable and safe manner. (App. 7, p. 4). Specifically, the inspector found that "[t]he load was off center and not secured to the forklift to prevent movement" (App. 7, p. 4).

Oliver's Status as "Supervisor"⁷

Although Oliver was referred to as a "supervisor," according to Oliver's

deposition testimony the terms "foreman" and "supervisor" were used

One of the OSHA inspector's photographs is accompanied by the following description: "Mr. Oliver identified the higher chips as steel roll strikes and the lower ones as rafter strikes from forklift loads." (App. 8, p. 36/37 (as marked)).

Because the district court concludes that the actions of Miller and Oliver did not rise to the level of gross negligence, the district court does not address respondent/appellant's argument below that Oliver was in a managerial or policymaking position with Fleetwood. Petitioner/appellee responded below, and maintains here, that this issue was not properly before the district court because it had not been originally presented to the trial court. Fla. Emergency Physicians-Kang and Assoc., M.D., P.A. v. Parker, 800 So. 2d 631, 636 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). Furthermore, this is a factual determination. Madaffer v. Managed Logistics Systems, 601 So. 2d 1328, 1329 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). In the event this Court addresses this issue, these record facts are provided to demonstrate that Oliver's duties at Fleetwood were not in a managerial or policymaking capacity. As a result, Oliver, like Miller, was subject to the "gross negligence" standard and not the heightened "culpable negligence" standard urged by respondents. Eller v. Shova, 630 So. 2d 537, 541 (Fla. 1993) (holding corporate negligence standard applies only to those engaged in managerial or policymaking decisions).

interchangeably at Fleetwood. (App. 3, Vol. II, p. 17, lines 18-25; p. 18, lines 1-2). Oliver reported to the plant's purchasing manager and assistant purchasing manager. (App. 4, p. 5, lines 11-21; p. 7, lines 11-18). When OSHA cited the plant for Miller's failure to secure the forklift load, it was Oliver's superior, the purchasing manager, along with the production manager and the plant's general manager who decided all forklift loads would in the future be secured to the forklift. (App. 6, p. 8, lines 1-2; p. 31, lines 11-23; App. 5, p. 4, lines 6-23). Oliver did not participate in the policy decision. Likewise, Oliver did not participate in rule changes for forklifts, and was not in a position to approach management and suggest rule changes for forklifts:

- Q: As supervisor of the Indirect Department and the most senior management dealing with forklifts, did you participate in rule changes for forklifts if that was necessary?
- A: Only if it was dictated through management down to me.
- Q: So you wouldn't go to management and say, "Hey, listen, we need to change this"?
- A: No.

(App. 3, Vol. II, p. 46, lines 18-25; p. 47, line 1).⁸

Even Oliver's immediate superior, the assistant purchasing manager, was not in a position to make or change forklift-related rules: "It would be more of a suggestion thing, suggesting something if I saw something and bringing it up to Frank [Rowan,

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Pursuant to this Court's decision in *Hastings v. Demming*, 694 So. 2d 718, 720 (Fla. 1997), the district court did not have jurisdiction to review the trial court's order denying summary judgment because of disputed issues of material fact. The trial court's order does not state that, as a matter of law, the defense of workers' compensation immunity is not available to the defendants. Instead the trial court applied the well-settled law of Florida and determined, as a matter of law, that the existence of genuine issues of material fact precluded the entry of summary judgment in the defendants' favor. Nothing in the trial court's order prohibits the defendants from arguing the defense of workers' compensation immunity before the jury at trial. As a result, this Court should vacate the district court's opinion and remand this case to the trial court for further proceedings.

If the Court considers the first certified question, the Court should answer the question "no." The law of Florida is clear: disputed issues of material fact preclude the entry of summary judgment, but denying a motion for summary judgment does not preclude defendants from arguing affirmative defenses before the finder of fact. Because the legislature made clear that co-employee's are not immune from acts of gross negligence, there is no justification for not applying this

the purchasing manager]." (App. 4, p. 21, lines 16-24).

well-settled law to these defendants. Furthermore, if the first certified question was answered "yes," the number of nonfinal appeals would increase, most including unresolved issues of fact. Such a result would be directly contrary to the intent of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130. As currently stated and applied, Rule 9.130 properly balances the competing interests of plaintiffs and defendants, relies upon trial courts to perform their traditional gatekeeping functions, looks to juries to serve as fact finders, and properly preserves error for plenary appeal. The district court has not shown any justification for receding from this proven formula.

If the Court considers the second certified question, the Court should answer the question "yes." This Court's decision in *Turner v. PCR, Inc.*, 754 So. 2d 683, 685 (Fla. 2000) demonstrates that an employer's actions resulting in injury or death, even when the employer has performed or condoned the activity for an extended period of time, can constitute an intentional tort. As in *Turner*, the facts of this case show that the employer encouraged its employees to engage in fundamentally unsafe activities, ignored previous non-fatal incidents exposing the dangers involved, and withheld such knowledge from its employees, all indicating a degree of deliberate or willful indifference to employee safety. The record on appeal demonstrates that the trial court carefully reviewed the evidence before it and applied an objective test faithful to *Turner*. Answering the second certified question "no" would encourage employers' "willful blindness" toward unsafe work practices, effectively undercutting *Turner* and decreasing workplace safety.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts review summary judgment orders de novo, resolving all

facts and inferences in favor of the non-moving party. The Florida Bar v.

Cosnow, 797 So. 2d 1255, 1258 (Fla. 2001).

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION SHOULD BE VACATED BECAUSE THE COURT DID NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE ORDER DENYING SUMMARY JUDGEMENT ON ISSUES OF FACT

Controlling Law

This Court has previously held that "[n]onfinal orders denying summary judgment on a claim of workers' compensation immunity are not appealable unless the trial court order specifically states that, as a matter of law, such a defense [of workers' compensation immunity] is not available to a party." *Hastings v. Demming*, 694 So.2d 718, 720 (Fla. 1997) (*"Hastings II"*). The Court has further focused this precedent to permit interlocutory appeals <u>only if</u> the lower court's order explicitly precludes a workers' compensation immunity defense. *Fla. Dept.* of Corrections v. Culver, 716 So. 2d 768, 769 (Fla. 1998). A district court is not authorized to look beyond a trial court's order to the hearing transcript. *Id*.

A. The Trial Court's Order Did Not State That The Defense of Workers' Compensation Immunity Was Not Available to a Party

Nowhere in the trial court's order did the court state or imply that the defendants would not be entitled to present the defense of workers' compensation immunity to the jury, or that the trial court was determining as a matter of law that the defendants were not entitled to the defense. The order itself (App. 1) defeats any such interpretation:

• Paragraph A.1. of the "Factual Findings" (addressing the gross negligence allegations against Miller and Oliver) states that the evidence filed by plaintiff "must be viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff."

• In paragraph A.4., the trial court finds that the "occurrence of the subject incident was inevitable, *given the violations alleged by plaintiff (which are disputed by defendant but, which must be accepted as true on a Motion for Summary Judgment).*" (emphasis added).

• In paragraph A.5. the court finds a composite of circumstances constituting an imminent danger, but with the preface that "[t]he facts of this case and the *allegations* of the plaintiff, *viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, create a factual basis*" for the composite of circumstances. (emphasis

added).

• Paragraph B.1. (addressing the intentional tort of Fleetwood) again acknowledges unresolved issues of fact: "the Court finds that the occurrence of the subject incident was inevitable, *given the violations alleged by plaintiff (which are disputed by defendant but, which must be accepted as true on a Motion for Summary Judgment*)." (emphasis added).

• None of the summary judgment denials were "with prejudice."

B. Mere Use of the Phrase "As A Matter of Law" Did Not Confer Jurisdiction Upon the District Court

The district court wrote that "[t]he trial court in this case expressly included within its order the language mandated by <u>Hastings</u> to give this court jurisdiction. It reviewed a well-developed record. We conclude that the trial court was correct in concluding that its order was appealable under rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(v)."² *Fleetwood*

Homes of Fla., Inc. v. Reeves, 833 So. 2d 857, 865 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

The trial court's use of the phrase "as a matter of law" did not and could not confer jurisdiction upon the district court as implied in its opinion. Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130 ("Rule 9.130") and the relevant case law, what clearly must be determined "as a matter of law" is that the defendant will not be allowed to argue the defense of workers' compensation immunity before the finder of fact. Especially when viewed in the light most favorable to the petitioner, nothing in the trial court's order states or implies that such a determination was made below. *Turner v. PCR, Inc.*, 754 So. 2d 683, 684 (Fla. 2000) (stating appellate court reviews record of summary judgment entry in light most favorable to non-moving party). The respondents were not precluded from arguing workers' compensation immunity.

C. Conclusion

Because the district court lacked jurisdiction to consider this nonfinal order, this Court should vacate the district court's opinion and remand the case to the trial court for further proceedings leading to the entry of a final judgment.

II.

FIRST CERTIFIED QUESTION

MAY A DISTRICT COURT REVIEW A NONFINAL ORDER DENYING, "AS A MATTER OF LAW," A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE ISSUE OF WORKERS' COMPENSATION IMMUNITY IF IT IS CLEAR THAT THE TRIAL COURT INTENDS TO SUBMIT THE ISSUE OF GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR INTENTIONAL TORT TO THE JURY AS A QUESTION OF FACT?

THE COURT SHOULD ANSWER THE FIRST CERTIFIED QUESTION "NO"

A. The History of the Workers' Compensation Subdivision of Rule 9.130 Is Consistent with Answering the First Certified Question "No"

This Court's controlling opinion in Hastings II was the result of a series of well-reasoned

opinions by which the Court carefully balanced the rights of both employees and employees under

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