IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC-03-134 Lower Tribunal No.: 2D01-5308

ALLISON GAE REEVES, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Dennis Mitchell Reeves, deceased,

PETITIONER,

VS.

FLEETWOOD HOMES OF FLORIDA, INC., MARVIN MILLER, and MICKIE OLIVER,

RESPONDENTS.

On Discretionary Jurisdiction from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Second District

,

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS, FLEETWOOD HOMES OF FLORIDA, INC., MARVIN MILLER, and MICKIE OLIVER

Submitted by:

JOHN W. FROST, II
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0114877
PETER W. VAN DEN BOOM
Florida Bar No: 0143601
FROST TAMAYO SESSUMS
& ARANDA, P.A.
Post Office Box 2188
Bartow, FL 33831-2188
(863) 533-0314

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In her third, virtually identical attempt, PETITIONER REEVES argues that this court should vacate the district court's opinion without considering the two certified questions because the trial court supposedly did not specifically state, as a matter of law, that workers' compensation immunity is unavailable to the Respondents. Therefore, according to the PETITIONER, the district court and this Court lack

jurisdiction to review a non-final Order from the trial court denying Summary Judgment. Petitioner's argument is without merit.

PETITIONER REEVES erroneously concludes that the trial court's Order does not specifically state, as a matter of law, that the defense of workers' compensation immunity is unavailable. [Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 9, 13]

Contrary to PETITIONER REEVES' argument, the order in paragraph <u>I.A.6.</u> uses the language required by *Hastings v Demming*, 694 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 1997) ("*Hastings II*"); more specifically, the trial court stated: "Therefore, as to these counts, <u>as a matter of law</u>, the Defendant's Motion should be denied." [Emphasis added.]

As a result of this language, it is clear that the order conclusively, and finally determined, that the Respondents are not entitled to workers' compensation immunity.

In short, the trial court did not leave the issue of whether the PETITIONER'S exclusive remedy is workers' compensation benefit for the jury to determine. As a result, the order conclusively and finally determined the Respondents' non-entitlement to workers' compensation immunity, as a matter of law.

The district court could have, and did also review the trial court order under its certiorari jurisdiction.

The first certified question addresses a general question that is not applicable to the unique facts of this case because in the instant case it was clear that the trial court did <u>not</u> intend to submit the issue of gross negligence or intentional tort to the

jury as a question of fact. As a result, the certified question is not applicable to the instant case.

Should this court decide to answer the first certified question, the answer to the first certified question should be "yes". In the instant case, the undisputed facts viewed in light most favorable to the Plaintiff are so "crystallized" that a court can determine that the facts in the instant case did not rise to the heights of gross negligence, culpable negligence, or intentional tort as a matter of law. Since the standard of review is *de novo* it makes sense that a non-final order denying "as a matter of law" a Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of workers' compensation immunity can be reviewed by the appellate court as an additional security to fulfill the court's gate keepers role.

This Court should refrain from answering the second certified question as stated because it is not representative of the issue presented in this case and because the district court did not rule on or *pass* on the question it certified.

If this Court considers the second certified question, this Court, - under the facts of this case - should answer the question, "no."

Respondent Fleetwood is entitled to Workers' Compensation Immunity

An employer who properly secures workers' compensation coverage for its employees is provided with immunity from suit "so long as the employer has not engaged in any intentional act designed to result in or that is 'substantially certain' to result in injury or death to the employee."

No bright line rule currently exists defining substantial certainty. Most reasonably, whether the facts of the case may support the finding of substantial certainty on the part of the employer can only be determined on a **case by case basis**. In doing so, the proper "gauges" of what is substantial certainty are previously decided cases.

In the instant case, the employer, RESPONDENT FLEETWOOD's behavior does not rise to the level of "substantially certain to result in injury or death."

There were no prior accidents similar to the one that happened on April 1, 1991 in the previous ten (10) years even though several forklift operators had made thousands of similar trips with similar loads through the same area where the accident occurred. Therefore, the quantum of evidence, provided by the particular circumstances surrounding this event, does not even remotely come close to allow a finding of substantial certainty. More specifically, there is no evidence that demonstrates that RESPONDENT FLEETWOOD had a reckless indifference to the safety of its employees. To the contrary, safety has been a high priority at FLEETWOOD as evidenced by the fact that the same trip with the same load had been made thousands of times without any incident.

Also, there is no evidence in the instant case that the employer "deceived" any of its employees, which would have prevented them from exercising an informed judgment whether to perform the task they were assigned.

In sum, viewed in the light most favorable to PETITIONER REEVES, the

undisputed evidence simply does not create a genuine issue of material fact under the high threshold required to establish an intentional tort in this context. Therefore, RESPONDENT FLEETWOOD is entitled to workers' compensation immunity.

Response to "AMICUS" brief.

Boiled to the bone the AMICUS argues that if a party can show reasonable foreseeability of an injury, thereby establishing the duty element of negligence, the issue of whether a set of facts is egregious enough is a jury question. This argument is inconsistent with the intent of the Florida Workers' Compensation Act exclusivity provision because this provision was intended to provide employers immunity from suit and not merely limited immunity from liability. Furthermore, the AMICUS tries to prove its point by relying on premise liability cases. This is not a premise liability case.

As a result, based on the undisputed facts, the opinion of the district court should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of a summary judgment order is *de novo*. *The Florida Bar v. Cosnow*, 797 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 2001).

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT DID HAVE JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE

TRIAL COURT ORDER DENYING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW

A. The undisputed facts, in the instant case, viewed in the light most favorable to the petitioner are so "crystallized" that a court could determine as a matter of law, that these facts do not rise to the heights of gross negligence, culpable negligence, or intentional tort.

PETITIONER REEVES argues for the third time that this Court should vacate the district court's opinion without considering the certified questions because the trial court, according to the PETITIONER, did not specifically state as a matter of law that workers' compensation immunity is unavailable to the Respondents.[Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 9 and page 12].

PETITIONER's previous attempts to argue this same issue started on January 9, 2002, when PETITIONER REEVES filed her Motion To Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction with the second district court of Appeal. [Respondent Appendix 1.] In response, Respondents on January 22, 2002, filed their Response to Petitioner's Motion To Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction, or in the Alternative, Motion for a Temporary Remand of the Appellate Court's Jurisdiction Back to the lower court for clarification. [Respondent Appendix 2.] After the second district court considered both PETITIONER REEVES' Motion and Respondents response, the Second district court denied PETITIONER REEVES' Motion To Dismiss [Respondent Appendix 3.].

PETITIONER REEVES erroneously concludes that the trial court's Order does not specifically state, as a matter of law, that the defense of workers' compensation immunity is unavailable. [Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 12.] Furthermore,

PETITIONER REEVES erroneously concludes that the trial court Order implies that the Respondents would have been allowed to argue the defense of workers' compensation immunity before the finder of fact. [Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 13.]

PETITIONER REEVES correctly cites and quotes the controlling law with regard to the appealability of non-final orders denying summary judgment on a claim of workers' compensation immunity, to-wit:

[N]on-final orders denying summary judgment on a claim of workers' compensation immunity are not appealable unless the trial court order specifically states that, as a matter of law, such a defense is not available to a party.

Hastings v. Demming, 694 So. 2d 718, 720 (Fla. 1997)("Hastings II").

A close look at the language in the trial court's order reveals the error in PETITIONER REEVES' argument. Contrary to PETITIONER REEVES' argument, the order in paragraph <u>I.A.6.</u> uses the language required by *Hastings II*, supra; more specifically, the trial court stated: "Therefore, as to these counts, <u>as a matter of law</u>, the Defendant's [Respondents] Motion should be denied." [Emphasis added.]

As a result of this language, it is clear that the Order conclusively determined that the Respondents are not entitled to workers' compensation immunity. Furthermore, it is clear from the language in the order that the Respondents have been precluded from having a jury decide whether they are entitled to workers' compensation immunity. In order to arrive at her strained conclusion, PETITIONER REEVES, as she did in her Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction, and in her

Answer Brief [Petitioner's Initial Brief, Page 12.][Appendix 12], tries to muddy the waters by focusing on superfluous language by the trial court in its Order.

It is abundantly clear that the language in the order cited by PETITIONER REEVES is merely excess language which is usually included in orders denying motions for summary judgment, because on a Motion For Summary Judgment, all material facts are to be considered in favor of the non-moving party. *Tampa Port Authority v. Ness International, Inc.*, 756 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000).

In the instant case, the trial court under the heading "Factual Findings" in paragraph I.A.2., makes the following <u>undisputed</u> findings of fact:

The court further finds that the maneuvers en route engaged by Marvin Miller on the date of the accident, had been accomplished hundreds of times by him, and a total of thousands of times by other forklift operators in the ten (10) years preceding the date of the decedent's death, with no displacement of materials being carried on the forklift.

Paragraph 3 goes on to say:

The court further finds that Marvin Miller performed the maneuver on the date of the incident consistent with the manner in which he had performed it on hundreds of previous occasions, but one of the rolls of metal became dislodged from his forklift and struck the Plaintiff in the chest killing him. It is apparent to the court that this roll of sheet metal struck a metal support pole that was obscured from the forklift driver's view.

The court based its ruling on the above-undisputed facts. It is true that the trial court, in its Order, states that it has looked upon the facts in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. However, the findings of fact cited by the court show that the court

used the undisputed facts to arrive at its ruling. The trial court's Order <u>does not</u> state that its denial of summary judgment was based on disputed facts. As a matter of fact, the court ends the paragraph from which the PETITIONER cites her language by stating that, "these circumstances taken in combination presented a high risk of serious injury."

These circumstances on which the court bases its ruling are specifically set forth in paragraphs 2 and 3 of the court's Order. Because the court bases its ruling on the undisputed facts set forth in paragraphs 2 and 3 of its Order, it is clear that the court denied Appellants' Motion For Summary Judgment on their claim of workers' compensation immunity, as a matter of law, and it is clear that the immunity defense is not available to the Respondents period.

The Second District Court of Appeal in *Fleetwood Homes of Florida, Inc., v. Reeves,* 833 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), specifically Judge Altenbernd, held that the trial court expressly included within its order the language mandated by *Hastings, supra.* According to Judge Altenbernd the trial court reviewed a well developed record where the facts viewed in light most favorable to the plaintiff were so 'crystallized' that the trial court could determine - as a matter of law - that the facts in the instant case did not rise to the heights of gross negligence, culpable negligence, or intentional tort. *Id* at 865. Thus, according to Judge Altenbernd, the trial court's order is an appealable order under rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(v).

In short, the Order conclusively determined the Respondents non-entitlement

to workers' compensation immunity, as a matter of law and therefore is appealable under it. *Id*.

B. Regardless of whether the district court had jurisdiction of this proceeding as an appeal from a non-final order, it had certiorari jurisdiction to review this matter since the trial court's order departed from the essential requirements of the law in depriving the Respondents of their statutory immunity from suit.

The Petitioner makes much ado regarding the second district court's supposed lack of jurisdiction to hear the appeal of the trial court's ruling on the Motion for Summary Judgment under Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(v). In reality, that entire issue is MOOT. As Judge Altenbernd pointed out in the second district court's opinion, that court also had certiorari jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(b)(2)(A).

As this Court has stated, certiorari is "an extraordinary remedy" that should be used sparingly and only in those cases where certain criteria are met. *Belair v. Drew*, 770 So. 2d 1164, 1166 (Fla. 2000), quoting *Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1098 (Fla. 1987). Those criteria are met when: (1) the trial court departs from the essential requirements of the law, (2) resulting in irreparable injury, (3) that cannot be adequately remedied on appeal following final judgment. *Id*.

An erroneous denial of immunity from suit is the very sort of issue that is ideal for certiorari review, as the second district court recognized here. <u>See</u> *Fleetwood Homes of Florida, Inc. v. Reeves*, 833 So. 2d 857, 865 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

For example, in Stephens v. Geoghegan, 702 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997),

a retired policeman filed a civil rights action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against three members of the St. Petersburg police force. The defendants moved for summary judgment based upon absolute and qualified immunity as public officials. The trial court denied the motion, but its order did not make clear whether the immunity was unavailable as a matter of law.³ The second district court noted, though, that it was clear from the transcript of the hearing that the trial court based its denial on the existence of factual disputes. In this posture, the second district court found that it did not have jurisdiction to review the matter on a direct appeal. On the other hand, it also found that it did have certiorari jurisdiction.

The appellate court determined that a denial of immunity, whether as a matter of law or based upon a disputed issue of fact, satisfies the three requirements set forth above. As the appellate court noted, immunities "are not merely defenses to liability." *Id* at 521. Instead, they protect the party claiming immunity "from having to defend a suit at all." *Id*. (emphasis added).

This entitlement is lost if the defendant is required to go to trial; having been forced to defend the suit, the public official cannot be reimmunized after-the-fact. Because of the nature and purpose of a claim of immunity, an appeal after final judgment would not be an adequate remedy. Accordingly, we hold that [the defendants] have established the requisite material harm, irreparable on appeal after judgment, needed to invoke our certiorari jurisdiction.

³ As noted above, the trial court in the instant case DID expressly make its ruling as a matter of law.

Id. (citations omitted).⁴

Following this precedent, the second district court in the instant case exercised its discretion and asserted certiorari jurisdiction. It properly concluded:

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